2004

H. C. Massey and Betty Griffiths v. Kenneth A. Griffiths : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court of Appeals has Jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 78-2a-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue Number 1: Are Masseys' tax deed titles superior to Defendants' titles which are based upon by conveyances dated and recorded subsequent to the date of the conveyance and recording of Masseys' tax deeds, where the grantors of Defendants' subsequent conveyances, and the grantors' predecessors, had been in possession of the property conveyed, and paid all taxes assessed against their legal descriptions, for more than 20 years?

Standard of Review for Issue Number 1: The District Court decided this issue in favor of the Defendants' subsequent conveyances and against the Masseys by granting Defendants' motions for summary judgment. This Court reviews the trial court's summary judgment rulings for correctness, granting no deference, and viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 61 P. 3d 1068, 1076 (Utah 2002).

Issue Number 2: Are the "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" and resulting "Order Quieting Title to Real Property in 12 X 12 L.L.C. and Aaron Buttars and

Brenda L. Buttars” supported by the pleadings and supporting documents submitted in the trial court’s summary judgment proceedings.

Standard of Review for Issue Number 2: This Court reviews the trial court’s summary judgment rulings for correctness, granting no deference, and viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 61 P.3d 1068, 1076 (Utah 2002).

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules nor regulations whose interpretation is determinative of this appeal or of such central importance as to require their inclusion here.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to quiet title and for trespass and waste to real property commenced by H. C. Massey and Betty P. Massey, Appellants (Masseys) in the District Court. Masseys’ First Amended Complaint also alleged a cause of action for adverse possession; the adverse possession cause was dismissed and is not at issue in this appeal. Masseys’ claim of title is based upon conveyances by tax deeds from Weber County.

Defendants filed motions for summary judgment supported by memoranda containing lengthy statements of undisputed fact purportedly supported by lengthy exhibits including affidavits. R. at 601-83, 785-96 and 852-50. Masseys duly disputed many of the

facts propounded by Defendants. R. at 815-851. Masseys believe that the facts set forth herein fairly states those facts which are not in dispute.

The motions were submitted without oral argument and the Court entered its “Ruling Conditionally Denying Summary Judgment.” R. at 962-67. At a subsequent telephonic hearing between the Court and counsel and based upon certain concessions of fact made by Masseys’ attorney the Court verbally granted the Defendants’ motions for summary judgment and directed counsel for Defendants to prepare appropriate findings of fact, conclusions of law and a final order. R. at 1014. The final findings of fact and conclusions of law prepared by Defendants counsel incorporated by reference the Courts earlier conditional ruling. R. at 984-99. Copies of the trial court’s initial ruling, the transcript of the subsequent telephonic hearing, and the findings, conclusions and final order are included in the Addendum hereto.

Several of the findings of fact recited contain facts duly disputed by Masseys and others have no basis in the record whatsoever. These discrepancies are set out more fully below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves real property located in the Southeast Quarter of Section 24, Township 6 North, Range 2 West in Weber County, Utah. Masseys purchased four separate parcels located in the Southeast Quarter at tax sale. Two of the parcels were

conveyed to the Masseys by tax deeds dated June 12, 1986, and recorded June 13, 1986.

R. at 989-90. The other two parcels were conveyed to the Masseys by tax deeds dated on June 8, 1992, and recorded June 10, 1992. R. at 990-91. The four parcels were contiguous. R. at 839.

No facts have been alleged evidencing any irregularity in the tax sales process. However, the trial court apparently agreed with the Defendants' argument that an irregularity can be presumed from the other undisputed facts set forth here.

The Defendants, Kenneth A. Griffiths (Griffiths), BKB LLC (BKB) and 12X12 , L.L.C. (12X12) are each successors in interest to a parcel of real property (the Griffiths Property) also located in the Southeast Quarter of Section 24. R. at 604-05. The Griffiths Property was first conveyed to Griffiths by warranty deed dated after the recording of all of the tax deeds, on September 10, 1993, and recorded on September 23, 1993. R. at 643-44. Griffiths conveyed the Griffiths Property to BKB by warranty deed dated and recorded January 24, 1994. BKB conveyed the Griffiths Property to 12X12 by Quit Claim Deed dated October 26, 2000, and recorded November 1, 2000. R. at 987.

The Defendants Aaron B. Buttars and Brenda L. Buttars (collectively, Buttars) claim an interest in a parcel (the Buttars Property) also located in the Southeast Quarter of Section 24. The Buttars Property was conveyed to Buttars by Brenda's mother, Defendant Adele B. Lewis (Lewis), by Warranty Deed dated and recorded December 5,

1994. R. at 988-89. Lewis accordingly has sold all of her right, title and interest in the Buttars Property although she continues to reside on a portion of the parcel.

The 12X12 Property is located North of the Buttars Property. R. at 839. A “very old fence” serves as the occupation line between the 12X12 Property and the Buttars Property. R. at 818. The legal description of Masseys’ tax deed properties straddles the old fence and overlaps the historical occupation of the 12X12 Property and the Buttars’ Property. R. at 819. The Defendants and their predecessors have paid taxes on legal descriptions contained in the tax notices issued to them by the County. R. at 1014, p. 10.

Not material to the present issues is the fact that Defendant Questar Gas Company (Questar) occupied a small parcel of property along the easterly end of the old fence line between the parcels occupied by the other Defendants’ predecessors. R. at 839. Questar is not a party to this appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The summary judgment movants bear the burden of persuading the court that they are entitled to summary judgment. They have wholly failed in meeting this burden.

Defendants’ primary arguments which were apparently accepted by the trial court as controlling are referred to herein as the caveat emptor argument and the due process argument. The caveat emptor argument maintains that purchasers at tax sales purchase without warranties of any kind; that they purchase subject to prior recorded interests; that

they are chargeable with notice of and take subject to the full record chain of title; and that they take subject to all of the infirmities of title and subject to the doctrine of caveat emptor. These arguments are contrary to established Utah statutory and case law. In fact Utah law favors tax deed titles and recognizes that tax deed holders take a new and complete title under an independent grant from the sovereign authority which bars or extinguishes all prior titles and encumbrances of private persons and all equities arising out of them. When Defendants took title, Masseys' tax titles were of record and Defendants took title subject to Masseys' interests.

The due process argument fails because it does not recognize the fact that Defendants were on notice of Masseys' interests by reason of the prior recording of Masseys' tax deeds. The Defendants are asserting the deprivation of their predecessors constitutional rights, not their own. Utah law recognizes that no one has standing to assert a third-parties constitutional rights under the facts of this case.

ARGUMENT

I. The Summary Judgment Movants Bear the Burden of Persuading the Court that Defendants are Entitled to Summary Judgment.

Summary judgment is proper only when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). The facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most

favorable to the nonmoving party. *Young v. Salt Lake City Sch. Dist.*, 2002 UT 64, ¶ 2, 52 P.3d 1230, 1233 (Utah 1993). For a moving party to be entitled to summary judgment, it must establish a right to judgment based on the applicable law as applied to the undisputed facts. See Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Transamerica Cash Reserve, Inc. v. Dixie Power & Water, Inc.*, 789 P.2d 24, 25 (Utah 1990). “On summary judgment, the movant bears the initial burden of informing the trial court of the basis for its motion and identifying the portions of the pleadings or supporting documents that the movant believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Harper v. Summit County*, 963 P.2d 768, 774 (Utah App. 1998). “Supporting and opposing Affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the Affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56 (e).

Defendants have wholly failed in meeting their burden as will be more fully demonstrated below.

II. The “Caveat Emptor” Argument is Contrary to Utah Law.

In their caveat emptor argument Defendants argued that purchasers at tax sales purchase without warranties of any kind; that they purchase subject to prior recorded interests; that they are chargeable with notice of and take subject to the full record chain of title; and that they take title subject to all of the infirmities of record and subject to the

doctrine of caveat emptor. These arguments must fail as they are contrary to established Utah statutory and case law.

The critical importance of the revenue collection function of government demands that tax titles be highly favored:

The first and paramount necessity for social order, personal liberty, and private property is the maintenance of civil government; and government cannot exist without revenues. The necessity and importance of preferring the lien for general taxes over other claims are so impelling that the priority of the sovereign claims of the state will not be depreciated or denied without warrant from the Legislature in clear and unmistakable terms

Robinson v. Hanson, 282 P. 782, 784 (Utah 1929).

To further enhance the tax collection function, tax titles are considered new grants from the sovereign authority extinguishing all prior titles:

When the period of redemption has expired and the county has received a tax deed for any real estate sold for delinquent taxes, the county tax lien merges into the title as effectively as by execution sale with such further rights of redemption as the statute provides. Purchasers from the county then take with a “new and complete title in the land, under an independent grant from the sovereign authority, which bars or extinguishes all prior titles and encumbrances of private persons, and all equities arising out of them”

Hanson v. Burris, 46 P.2d 400, 406 (Utah 1935) (citations omitted).

In 1951 the Utah Legislature enacted a special statute of limitations applicable to tax titles in order to give increased stability to tax titles and thereby augment the revenues of state and local governments. *Fredriksen v. LaFleur*, 632 P.

2d 827, 828 (Utah 1981). See also, *Dillman v. Foster*, 656 P. 2d 974 (Utah 1982).

The Utah Supreme Court recently reemphasized that tax sales extinguish all prior claims and tax titles are entitled to a high degree of protection. In *A.C. Financial, Inc. v. Salt Lake County*, 948 P.2d 771 (Utah 1997), the court was faced with the issue of whether liens on real property for personal and real property taxes are subject to a trust deed interest created before accrual of the taxes underlying the liens. The trust deed lien holder asked the Court to overrule the Court's earlier decision in *Union Central Life Insurance Co. v. Black*, 67 Utah 268, 247 P. 486, (Utah 1926) (holding that tax liens enjoy priority over previously created contractual liens). In reaffirming *Black*, the Court gives heavy emphasis to the policy that the tax collection function of government requires that tax liens and tax titles be given high priority:

In addition, the holding of *Black* is more closely integrated into Utah law than is immediately apparent. Because *Black* involved not only liens for personal property taxes on real property, but also the liens for the real property taxes owed on the same parcel, it also brought into Utah law the widely accepted rule that real property tax liens have priority over all other claims on the property taxed. *Black* is the earliest Utah case for that rule, but later cases recognize the rule (although they do not cite *Black* for it) in holding that a tax sale extinguishes all prior private claims on the property. See *Hanson v. Burris*, 86 Utah 424, 438-39, 46 P.2d 400, 406 (1935) (acknowledging that purchasers of tax deed receive new title under independent grant of title which extinguishes all previous private titles and encumbrances); see also *Buchanan v. Hansen*, 820 P.2d 908, 910 (Utah 1991) (mentioning same); *Tuft v. Federal Leasing*, 657 P.2d 1300, 1303 (Utah 1982) (citing rule in Hansen). The statute providing for tax sales implicitly recognizes this rule and the underlying holding of *Black* with regard to real property taxes by defining the title granted at a tax sale as a "fee simple" title — i.e., one unencumbered by other claims. See Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-1351.1(9)(a) (1996).

Not recognizing tax lien priority in the context of tax sales would significantly dilute the State's ability to dispose of property at such sales because the buyer would be subject to other claims on the property.

A.C. Financial, Inc. v. Salt Lake County, 948 P.2d 771, 776 (Utah 1997).

The Defendants contended and the trial court adopted the argument that Masseys have the burden of proving that unless Weber County had a proper legal basis to issue their tax deeds, the deeds are void *ab initio*. R. at 855 and 965. These arguments and the courts ruling ignores the fact that Utah law favors tax deed titles and that tax deed holders take a new and complete title under an independent grant from the sovereign authority. It also flies in the face of the statutory presumption of regularity afforded tax deed holders. Utah Code sec. 59-2-1362.

Established Utah law favors tax deed titles. Neither Defendants nor the Court below gave any shrift to this doctrine.

III. The “Due Process” Argument is ill founded.

Defendants argued below that should Masseys’ Tax Deed titles be held superior to theirs, they will have been deprived of their property by due process of law. The trial court apparently adopted this argument although it never addressed it directly. R. at 962-67 and 984-99.

The Defendants’ reasoning fails to recognize the fact that all of their present interests were acquired after the Tax Deeds were of record. The last of the Tax Deeds

was recorded June 8, 1992. All of the Defendants acquired their interests subsequent to that date. The Defendants therefore had constructive notice of Masseys' tax title and took subject thereto. *See* section 57-3-2 (1) Utah Code ("Each document executed, acknowledged, and certified, in the manner prescribed by this title . . . shall from the time of recording with the appropriate County Recorder, impart notice to all persons of their contents.""). In other words, Defendants are asserting the deprivation of their predecessors' constitutional rights, not their own rights.

The Tenth Circuit was faced with this very issue in the case of *Kemmerer Coal Co. v. Brigham Young University*, 723 F.2d 54 10th Cir. (1983). The Court stated its holding as follows:

Kemmerer contends that due process was violated based on the following undisputed facts. Its predecessor, San Rafael, received no notice of the tax assessment on the coal and received only publication notice of the resultant sale of the coal rights These factors arguably indicate that the county deprived San Rafael of due process by its slipshod procedure Kemmerer itself has suffered no due process injury. If a constitutional violation occurred, it was the taking of San Rafael's property without due process. Kemmerer thus seeks to advance its claim by asserting a third-party's constitutional rights. "The general rule is that 'a litigant may only assert his own constitutional rights or immunities'" This rule has been applied to bar a grantee's assertion that its grantor's due process rights were violated We believe the Utah Supreme Court would hold that Kemmerer has no standing to assert a third-party's constitutional rights under the facts of this case [W]e do not believe it fundamentally unfair to apply the statute of limitations to Kemmerer who bought the coal lands in the face of record notice of a rival claim to "underground rights."

Id. at 57-58 (citations omitted).

The Utah Supreme Court has agreed with the Tenth Circuit:

The Tenth Circuit made an accurate forecast When Shelledy purchased the property from SBA in 1988, he was on record notice of defendants' rival claim to the property by virtue of the 1984 tax deed. Therefore, we hold that Shelledy lacks standing to assert the SBA's constitutional rights and defense.

Shelledy v. Lore, 836 P.2d 786, 790 (Utah 1992).

Defendants were all on notice of Masseys' tax title at the time they took title to the property and are in no position to complain that Masseys' title trumps theirs.

**IV. The Trial Courts Findings of Fact are inappropriate and
not supported by the record.**

This case points out the confusion introduced by the entry of findings of fact in summary judgment proceedings. The entry of findings of fact is "clearly inappropriate in any grant of summary judgment." *Buzas Baseball, Inc. v. Salt Lake Trappers, Inc.*, 925 P.2d. 941, n.3 (Utah 1996).

In any event, many of the findings are not supported by the record:

A. For some inexplicable reason new descriptions have been introduced into the findings of fact for the Griffiths Property. Compare Finding No. 1 (R. at 986 and 987) with the quit claim deed from BKB to 12X12. R. at 620. The descriptions are similar, but several of the distance calls have been changed. Masseys are aware of nothing in the record to support these differences.

B. Finding Nos. 1, 2, 3 and 7 each contain the exact wording of a legal conclusion regarding the subject of the paragraph: “owner and holder of the record, legal and equitable title”. R. at 986-989. In each case this is the ultimate legal issue and is not appropriately stated as a finding of the Court.

C. Finding Nos. 4 and 8 state that the Defendants “have timely paid and discharged all Real Property taxes that have been levied upon [their Property] during and throughout a period of more than twenty years immediately preceding the initiation of the above entitled action.” R. at 987-89. Masseys have disputed these assertions. R. at 817 and 826. What Massey did concede was that the Defendants and their predecessors paid taxes on the descriptions contained in the tax notices that were issued to them by the County. R. at 1014, p. 10.

D. Finding No. 14, so far as can be determined by Masseys, is totally without support in the record.

E. The facts contained in Finding No. 15 were disputed by the Masseys. R. at 818-819, par. 7.

F. Finding No. 16 restates a fact proposed by Defendants, but fully disputed by Masseys. R. at 821-822, par. 11.

G. Finding Nos. 17 and 18 contain facts disputed by the Masseys. Masseys conceded that none of the legal descriptions set forth in their tax deeds covered any real