2004

H.C. Massey and Betty Massey v. Kenneth A. Griffiths, BKB LLC, 12 X 12 L.L.C., Aaron B. Buttars, Brenda L. Buttars, Adele B. Lewis : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court appropriately granted Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party Appellants and finding no dispute as to **material** facts. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law resulting in the "Order Quietening Title to Real Property in 12 X 12, L.L.C., and in Aaron B. Buttars and Brenda L. Buttars" are appropriately supported by the pleadings and supporting documents submitted in the trial court's summary judgment proceedings.

First, Appellants did not take title to the disputed property because Weber County did not have any title to convey. A prerequisite to holding a tax sale is that the owners of the property be delinquent in paying taxes for said property. Appellees believe that under Utah law, the tax sale is therefore of no effect. Additionally, purchasers of Tax Deeds take title subject to and along with the infirmities in the grantor's title, such as a boundary by acquiescence claim. The taxes for the properties in question were all paid in full by Appellees and current at the time of the tax sale. All of the Appellees and their predecessors in interest had paid the property taxes assessed and had occupied the disputed property for at least 20 years prior to commencement of this action. Therefore, Weber County did not possess title to the properties and could not convey title to said properties by Tax Deed and Appellants' Tax Deeds are null, void, and of no effect.

Second, even if the Court finds that Weber County was able to convey title to the land described in the Tax Deeds to Appellants, title to the property held by

Appellees is superior to that of Appellees under Utah statute and case law. For an unrecorded interest in real property to be void as against any subsequent purchaser of said real property, the subsequent purchaser must: 1) purchase the property in good faith, that is, without actual or constructive notice of the possibility of any other unrecorded interest in the property and 2) record their document first. Moreover, Appellees and their predecessor interest holders have occupied said properties continuously for at least 20 years prior to this action (as conceded by Appellants), and this continuing adverse possession. It has also been conceded by Appellants that Appellees and their predecessor interest holders have all paid the taxes due as for the property described by tax notices received by Appellees for at least 20 years prior to this action. Appellants, as subsequent purchasers were on actual, or at the very least, constructive notice of the possibility of a problem with the title to the property held by Weber County. Therefore, Appellants are precluded from taking in good faith and Appellees therefore are the lawful owners thereof.

### ARGUMENT

#### **I. The Tax Deeds Conveyed No Title To Appellants Because Weber County Had No Title To Convey.**

Appellant's claims herein are based upon four tax deeds, two of which are dated June 12, 1986 and two of which are dated August 12, 1992. These tax deeds are null and of no legal force or effect to convey any title to Appellants because Weber County did not have or hold any title that it could convey. Under Utah law,

lawful tax sale proceedings can only be based upon a failure to pay the taxes assessed against the property sold and no validity attaches to any tax sale of property concerning and for which the taxes have been paid and that never became delinquent. *Tintic Undine Mining Co. v. Ercanbrack*, 74 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Utah 1938); *Hayes v. Gibbs*, 169 P.2d 781, 786 (Utah 1946); *Thirteenth South Ltd. v. Summit Village Inc.*, 866 P.2d 257, 259 (Nev. 1993). That is, a tax sale of property for which the taxes have been paid in full and have never become delinquent must be invalid *ab initio*. Appellants have not shown that Appellees' taxes were even delinquent. Rather, they have conceded full payment of the taxes by all Appellees. Utah law further provides that a person claiming title to real property by reason of a tax deed is chargeable with notice of and takes subject to the full record chain of title. *Hayes*, 169 P.2d 781 at 784; *See Also, Salt Lake County v. Metro West Ready Mix, Inc.*, 89 P.3d 155, 157-158, 2004 UT 23; Utah Recording Act, UCA §57-3-21(1). Additionally, in the case of *Mason v. Loveless*, 24 P.3d 997 (Utah 2001), the Court of Appeals held that purchasers of Tax Deeds take title subject to and along with all of the infirmities of the prior owner. For example, in *Mason*, the Tax Deeds did not extinguish the preexisting boundary by acquiescence claim of the neighboring property owner. *Mason*, 24 P.3d 997 at 1003.

The record title to and possession of the Buttars' property have continuously been held and maintained by the Buttars and their predecessors in interest at all times since the real property, of which the Buttars' property is a part,

was patented to Caleb Parry and Thomas Joyce. The Buttars and their predecessors in interest have paid all of the real property taxes related to the Buttars' property, whose legal description is contained in the tax notices sent by Weber County. There is nothing in the record that would support any claim to the contrary.

The same is true with respect to the 12X12 and Questar Properties. They and their predecessors in interest have also possessed and paid all taxes related to their respective properties over a period of more than 20 years. 12X12 and its predecessors in interest have been in possession and paid said taxes since at least 1980. Questar has been in possession since at least 1929. Accordingly, there have been no unpaid real property taxes that could have provided Weber County with any lawful basis for issuing the Tax Deeds to Appellants. Simply stated, the Tax Deeds did not and cannot convey real property never owned by Weber County and which Weber County never had a right to sell. Therefore, Appellants received nothing from the tax sale because Weber County had nothing to sell or convey relating to the aforementioned tax deeds.

## **II. The Title Conveyed By Tax Deed To Appellants Was Not Superior To That Held By Appellees.**

In the alternative, if Weber County did, in fact, convey title the real property described in the Tax Deeds held by Appellants. Appellants' arguments must also fail because such title held through the Tax Deeds was not and is not superior to and does not trump the title held by Appellees in this action. As noted

above, Utah law provides that a person claiming title to real property by reason of a tax deed is chargeable with notice of and takes subject to the full record chain of title. *Hayes*, 169 P.2d 781 at 784; *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 158; UCA §57-3-21(1) According to Utah’s Recording Statute, UCA §57-3-21(1):

- “Each document not recorded as provided in this title is void as against any subsequent purchaser of the same real property, or any portion of it, if:
- (1) the subsequent purchaser purchased the property in good faith and for a valuable consideration; and
  - (2) the subsequent purchaser’s document is first duly recorded.

UCA §57-3-21(1). In *Metro West*, the Utah Supreme Court in discussing this issue with respect to a “wild deed” or “one executed by a stranger to the record title,” held that to be a good faith purchaser, “a subsequent purchaser must take the property without notice of a prior, unrecorded interest in the property.” *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 158, citing *Ault v. Holden*, 2002 UT 33, ¶ 31, 44 P.3d 781; *Metro West*, at 159. “In addition, to be in good faith a subsequent purchaser must also take the property “without notice of any infirmity in his grantor’s title.” *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 158, citing *Pender v. Bird*, 119 Utah 91, 96, 224 P.2d 1057, 1059 (1950). Said notice can be actual notice or constructive notice, by record or inquiry. *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 158. Record notice “results from a record or which is imputed by the recording statutes.” *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 158, quoting *First Am. Title Ins. Co. v. J.B. Ranch, Inc.*, 966 P.2d 834, 837 (Utah 1998). Inquiry notice “is presumed because of the fact that a person has knowledge of certain facts which should impart to him, or lead him to, knowledge of the ultimate fact.” *Id.* If the subsequent purchaser is found to have had either



actual or constructive notice, then they are precluded from having taken the property in good faith and the prior unrecorded interest in the property takes. *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 158.

In the *Metro West* case, the Supreme Court of Utah was faced with the issue of whether or not a purchaser who obtains title to property through a wild deed is a bona fide purchaser under Utah's recording statute. In that case, Salt Lake County received title to a 15-acre parcel in 1878 but failed to record its deed to that parcel until 1998. In the meantime, an intervening purchaser came in and purchased that property from purported owners in 1989. *Metro West* and the county became involved in litigation to resolve the dispute. After going through the trial court and the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court of Utah found that because the 1989 transfer resulted from a conveyance where the Grantors had no record title that it was accomplished through a "wild deed". The Court defined wild deed as one executed by a stranger to the record title. The Utah Supreme Court concluded "that a purchaser whose chain of title is founded on a wild deed cannot be a bona fide purchaser" because that purchaser "is charged with notice of what is shown by the records of the county recorder in the county in which the property is situated". See *Crompton v. Jenson*, 70 Utah 55, 1 P.2d 242, 247 (Utah 1931) "and by implication charged with notice of what the records should show but do not..." The Court went on to say:

"[W]e hold that by definition a purchaser whose title is founded on a wild deed is on notice that his grantor had no record title to the property purportedly being conveyed. This is true in instances where, as in this case,

the subsequent purchaser has obtained actual notice of this absence by searching the records. Moreover, it is also true even when the purchaser has no actual notice of the title defect, since all grantees of wild deeds are necessarily charged with constructive record notice by virtue of the recording statutes. Accordingly, a purchaser who acquires property through a wild deed will be held to have been on notice of a defect in his grantor's title and will not qualify as a subsequent purchaser in good faith for purposes of Utah's recording statute." (See *Metro West* at 159).

In the case at hand, it is clear that the tax deeds that are the subject of this action are, in essence, wild deeds, under *Metro West*, in that they are deeds "executed by a stranger to the record title." *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 159. Thus, if a prior unrecorded interest in property has a better position than the purchaser of a wild deed certainly a prior recorded interest in the property (that of 12 X 12 and Buttars') has a better position than the purchaser of a wild deed. It is clear and Appellants have conceded the fact that even the Appellees and their predecessors in interest, including the Buttars and Adele B. Lewis, have all occupied their respective properties, including the area up to the "very old fence" lying between said properties, for more than twenty years. Additionally, it is clear from the record and Appellants have conceded that all of the Appellees have paid the taxes assessed by the County for the property whose legal description is contained on the tax notices received. Finally, it is also clear that a visit to the property by Appellants or Weber County would have put them on actual or, at least, constructive notice of "the possibility of the rights of another." *Metro West*, 89 P.3d 155 at 158, quoting *Paldevco Ltd. P'ship v. City of Auburn Hills*, No. 202134, 1998 WL 1988569, \*2, 1998 Mich. App. LEXIS 626, at \*5

(Mich.Ct.App. Dec. 18, 1998) (unpublished per curiam decision). Because Appellants had actual, or, at the very least, constructive notice of a prior unrecorded interest in the property, their purchase is not in good faith and, therefore, are precluded from taking the property over Appellees.

### **III. Appellants' Argument That Tax Deeds Enjoy Paramount**

#### **Title Constitutes Poor Public Policy**

Appellants' main argument is that tax deeds are entitled to a high degree of protection (Appellants' Brief page 9). Appellant has collected random comments from Utah case law concerning tax deeds and their sanctity. While tax deeds have a significant place in Utah real property law and they should not be treated lightly, Appellant urges the court to hold that tax deeds are paramount to all other title. Under Appellants' theory, a county could theoretically issue tax deeds and sell them to the public to increase tax revenues and thereby deprive long-standing property owners of their property right without even providing them with notice. Certainly if the court finds in favor of Appellants', Appellees' next course of action is likely to bring an action against the county for deprivation of their property without due process because the Appellees did not receive notice of these tax sales. Appellants have never submitted any evidence that Appellees received such notice.

It is unfortunate that Masseys purchased a tax deed which is traced back to a wild deed, but they had constructive notice of this fact. Certainly the county cannot do away with the defect in the chain of title simply by holding a tax sale. If

this were the case, then such would fly in the face of sound real property law. Property law is founded upon the long-term course of events relating to real property, the recording statutes and the recorded deeds. Because the Appellees had title to the property in question and occupied the same, Appellants were on notice of this fact and should be held to that standard. Moreover, they should not be able to show up at a tax sale and deprive other legitimate landowners of their property rights through the back door.

In conclusion, the findings of fact and conclusions of law which were entered by the trial court are appropriate. They are based upon sound principles of law and should not be disturbed. In the alternative, the *Metro West* case provides solid grounds for upholding the court's ruling.

In addition, Appellants have relied upon the *Kemmerer Coal Company v. Brigham Young University*, 723 F.2d 54 (Utah 1983) case. The holding in said case was based upon statute of limitations and not based upon facts which are anywhere similar to the facts at hand. In fact, *Kemmerer* is supportive of the Appellees' position because it finds that the land claimant purchased its interest after having record notice of a competing claim. Thus, the *Kemmerer* case is distinguished on its facts and is not persuasive authority supporting Appellants' position.